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The Church Organs of St. Stephen’s Lutheran Church (1922-2015) 

119 North Church Street 

Lexington, South Carolina 29072 

 

The music of liturgical worship, for generations, has attracted the best musicians and highly trained 
organists.  For many centuries, the organ has been the instrument of choice to lead liturgical worship.  
The organ is the only instrument that provides a massive color pallet of sounds, from very soft to a 
grandiose ensemble – all commanded by one player!  The history of organ dates back to the 3rd century 
BC.  It became more prominent with standards for design and development beginning in the 1600’s.  
The Lutheran Church owes much to J. S. Bach, a German Lutheran, for his musical compositions and 
organ styles that remain intact today.  Organs have always produced sounds through wind-blown pipes, 
hence the pipe organ.  Every organ up to 1939 had wind-blown pipes (the good, the bad and the ugly).  
Technology has provided a plethora of progress since then and the modern digital organ is part of the 
revolution.    

Many of St. Stephen’s records were lost in fires in the late 1800’s.  No records exist of early organs 
before 1888.  Music was provided by the player pumping an organ with a single keyboard whose sounds 
were produced from wind being sucked through a tuned metal reed.  These type reed organs gained 
prominence in the US in the late 1800’s thru the turn of the century.  They were eventually replaced by 
pipe organs as American pipe organ builders developed and financial resources permitted.  The first two 
church structures for SSLC were wooden.  The first stone structure (the Rock Church)  
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was built on the front corner – the front lawn of the existing edifice.  The St. Stephen’s pump organ 
served from the late 1800’s until the first pipe organ installed 1922.  Appendix A contains the article of 
February 9, 1889 from the Dispatch News describing the destructive fire of the 2nd St. Stephen’s building.  
It is noted that the Pump Organ and stool along with some chairs were saved!  The church records & 
library were lost in this fire. 

These early pump organs and pianos, unlike more modern ones, did not have self-playing mechanisms. 
Trained pianists or organist were employed or volunteered their services.   The earliest known 
organist/choir director at St. Stephen’s is Mrs. Alice Meetze Butler.  While little is known of her, Mrs. E. 
B. Roof substituted for Mrs. Butler on many occasions.  Mrs. Roof served SSLC Music from 1888 - 1937 
just a few months short of 50 years.  She also taught music in the Lexington school.  This document aptly 
describes “Mrs. Fannie” Roof’s history in Lexington and her service to St. Stephen’s along with that of 
her husband Mr. Belton Roof.   

Another Lexington musician icon was Miss May Boozer.  Miss May was born in 1892.  Mrs. Roof and 
Miss Boozer were the’ town musicians’ at the turn of the century.    Miss May became St. Stephen’s 
musician in 1938 and served until her retirement in 1965.  The Lexington High School Annual in 1964 
was dedicated to Miss May.  Believe it or not, private piano was taught in the Lexington public school 
system until mid-1980! 

  

Miss May Boozer ~ 1964 

At the PELS Pipe Organ 

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text



3 | P a g e  
 

 

THE FIRST PIPE ORGAN (M.P. Möller) 

The first pipe organ was installed in St. Stephen’s May of 1922.  The instrument had two manuals, 11 
stops (7 ranks), 6 pistons, 8 couplers and 398 pipes.  A balcony was constructed in the back of the ‘Rock 
Church’ (built 1900) to house the organ and the choir.  This first pipe organ was built by the M.P. Möller 
Organ Company of Hagerstown, Maryland.  The Möller Company, established in 1875, was the major 
organ builder of the day.  The installation was completed in time for the dedication concert held on June 
25, 1922 at 4:00pm.  See Appendix B for the Dispatch News article about the installation. 

The Dedication concert was performed by Mrs. E. B. Roof and local musicians.  View the concert 
program in APPENDIX C as published in the Dispatch News on June 21, 1922.   The contract to build this 
organ was signed April 17, 1922 for a total cost of $3,000.00.  The Reverend Dr. Arthur B. Obenschain 
was the Pastor.   This pipe organ was a predominant instrument for the Lexington Community as well.  
Note the Program Centennial Celebration for St. Stephen’s (1830-1930) held August 27, 28, 29 & 31, 
1930.  

THE SECOND PIPE ORGAN (PELS) 

In the early 1950’s a building fund was started for the purpose of constructing a new and larger church 
plant.  In January of 1957 the contract for construction of our present sanctuary was issued.  The 
buildings with furnishings cost a little more than $315,000.  Ground breaking was held February 3, 1957.  
The church plant was completed and the Services of Dedication were held March 23, 1958.  The second 
pipe organ was built for this new sanctuary by the PELS Organ Company of Alkmaar, Holland with offices 
in Grand Rapids, MI and Santa Barbara, CA.  The contract to build was signed March 9, 1957 for a total of 
$11,900.00 by Mr. C. E. Black and the Rev. Ralph I. Luman.  St. Stephen’s was afforded special pricing on 
the instrument as a special demonstrator organ for the PELS Company.  The organ pipes and equipment 
were installed in a special organ chamber on the north wall of the Chancel (the large brown grille the full 
length of this wall is for tonal egress).  The console was located in the south transept adjoining the nave 
facing the Chancel.  The size of the organ was considerably larger than the first pipe organ.  The PELS 
had a two manual console, 32 note pedalboard and bench and met the American Guild of Organists 
standard for size and control placement.  The original organ consisted of 15 stops, 17 Ranks, 9 couplers, 
9 setter pistons controlling a total of 1116 pipes from 16’ tall down to the size of a pencil.  An additional 
softer stop (Dulciana 8’) was added to the Great manual in 1962. The specification for the PELS organ is 
found in APPENDIX D. 

The placement of this organ, however, was not conducive to good sound distribution throughout the 
nave and transepts.  Problems with the organ required the main chests to be returned to the PELS 
factory in January 1960. The present church is built of solid masonry.  The interior walls and partitions 
are of concrete blocks or brick and are veneered with Salisbury granite.  The interior walls of the organ 
chamber over the years absorbed excessive moisture through the stone and the interior concrete finish 
turned to powder.  Over time, the suction of the organ blower (located on the chamber floor) collected 
this powder and coated the inside of the organ chests, basically making them unreliable and causing 
premature failure.  The conditions of the organ lead to the need to purchase a third pipe organ in 1978.  
The PELS was sold, rebuilt and installed in the Ingram residence on Corley Mill Road, Lexington, SC. 
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A novice would be interested to know that a pump organ made sound by sucking air through a vibrating 
metal reed.  A pipe organ on the other hand, blows air through an organ pipe to make sound.  You might 
associate a pipe organ pipe with a whistle since the physics of their sound are identical.  Pipe organs are 
more powerful with higher wind pressure and have pipes made of metal and wood to produce different 
characters of sound.  A point of definition, a RANK is one set of pipes each having the same sound (color 
or character) representing all notes/pitches of the scale.  A typical rank for manual stops has 61 
individual pipes and for the pedal stops 32 individual pipes. 

THE THIRD PIPE ORGAN (M.P. Möller Opus #11336) 

The decision was made in 1977 to purchase a second M. P. Möller pipe organ.  Because of the 
environmental and performance issues with the PELS organ, the decision was made to move the organ 
and choir to the balcony.  The original 160 seats were removed to make room for the organ and provide 
seating for the choir and handbells.  The console was located dead center against the balcony rail to 
allow for excellent control by the organist, ease of accompanying and a line-of-site that permits an 
organist/director combination. 

The M. P. Möller pipe organ Opus #11336 was installed in 1978 at a contract price of $74,507.26.  The 
new three-manual console controlled 24 ranks containing 1,348 pipes, 4 divisions, 25 stops and 22 
registers.  M.P. Möller built almost 12,000 instruments in their history until closing their doors in 1993. 
The specification for Opus #11336 is found in Appendix E. 

In 2005, major work was performed on the organ updating the console to solid state/digital controls, 
adding 40 digital organ voices including a new unexpressed Antiphonal Division in the Chancel.  A new 
pipe façade was also added on each side of the Altar.  All voices in the Chancel are digital with the 
associated (8) speakers positioned at the base of the façade in specially constructed trays.  The sub-bass 
pedal speaker is located in the original organ chamber in the Chancel.  The main digital voices speak 
from the Balcony (Gallery) with the pipe organ.  The Walker Technical Company provided the digital 
voice additions.  The complete 2005 project was Opus 92 of Cornell Zimmer Organ Builders of Denver, 
North Carolina. These additions were contracted for $100,480.   

In 2011, new controls were added to the console to express (control the volume) of the Antiphonal 
Division in the Chancel, make the Antiphonal division sound from the balcony and add an additional 
pedal speaker system in the Balcony for better balance throughout the church.  The addition of over 200 
MIDI organ voices enhanced the specification further.  The organ is now playable from the Balcony or 
antiphonally via a MIDI Keyboard or Console.  These additions were contracted for $11,500.00. 

The complete specifications for the current St. Stephen’s Möller/Walker organ are found in Appendix F.   

 
PRIMARY RETIRED ORGANISTS 

Mrs. E. B. Roof (1888-1937) 
Miss May Boozer (1938-1965) 

Mrs. Sylvia Looney (1965-2010) Organist Emiratis 
Dr. Sally Cherrington Beggs (2010-2012) 

James W Ingram, Jr (2010 – 2015) 
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APPENDIX  D – ORGAN SPECIFICATIONS _PELS 1957_OPUS # 2734 

 
Pitch   Stop Name                          Source                                       Notes 
 

 PEDAL  Unexpressed 
16 Bourdon 32 Pipes Exposed 
8 Flute 12 Pipes  
8 Diapason (GT)   

 

 
8 

SWELL 
Rohrflote 

Manual ll 
73 Pipes 

Expressed (SW) 

8 Gamba 73 Pipes  
8 Gamba Celeste 73 Pipes  
4 Nachthorn 73 Pipes  

III 
8 

Mixture 
Trumpet 

219 Pipes 
73 Pipes 

 

8 Oboe 73 Pipes  
 Tremulant   
 Swell to Swell 16'   
 Swell to Swell 4'   

 

 GREAT Manual l Unexpressed 
8 Diapason 61 Pipes  
8 Bourdon 61 Pipes  
8 Dulciana 61 Pipes Addition 1960 
4 Octave 61 Pipes  

III-IV Mixture 232 Pipes  
 Chimes 

Great to Great 16' 
Great to Great 4' 

Schulmerich 1946 Mechanical Struck Rod 

 

COUPLERS 
16     Swell to Great 
8      Swell to Great 
4      Swell to Great 
8      Great to Pedal 
8      Swell to Pedal 

 
 
EXPRESSION 

SWELL                                                            Expression Shoe (SW) 
CRESCENDO                                                    Expression Shoe 

 
 
CAPTURE 

Generals 1-3                                                    Great Manual Pistons 
Great Division 1-3                                             Great Manual Pistons 
Swell Division 1-3                                             Swell Manual Pistons 
Sforzando                                                        Toe Piston (Mechanical Reversible) 
Gen Cancel                                                      Great Manual Piston 
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APPENDIX  E - ORGAN SPECIFICATIONS_M.P. MöLLER _OPUS #11336 

Pitch Stop Name Source Notes 
       

 PEDAL   Exposed 
16 Subbass 32 Pipes   
16 Gedecktbass  (CH) Pipe   
8 Principal 32 Pipes   
8 Holzgedeckt 8  (CH) Pipe   
4 Choral Bass 32 Pipes   
16 Fagotto 32 Pipes   
4 Fagotto 24 Pipes   
        
        
  SWELL Manual lll Expressed (SW) 
8 Viole de Gambe 61 Pipes   
8 Viole Celeste 49 Pipes 

(tc) 
  

8 Rohrflute 61 Pipes   
4 Flachflute 61 Pipes   
2 Blockflute 61 Pipes   

1 1/3 Quintflote 61 Pipes   
8 Trompette 61 Pipes   
16 Swell to Swell     
8 Swell Unison Off     
4 Swell to Swell     
        
        
  GREAT Manual ll Exposed 
8 Principal 61 Pipes   
8 Bourdon 61 Pipes   
4 Octave 61 Pipes   
2 Super Octav 61 Pipes   
  Mixture III-IV 220 Pipe2   
 Chimes 25 Note 1970 Mass Rowe Brass Tubular Chimes 
4 Great to Great     
        
        
  CHOIR Manual l Expressed (CH) 
8 Holzgedeckt 61 Pipes   
8 Erzahler 61 Pipes   
4 Spitzflute 61 Pipes   
2 Principal 61 Pipes   
8 Krummhorn 61 Pipes   
 

16 
4  

Tremulant 
Choir to Choir 
Choir to Choir 
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  COUPLERS     
8 Great to Pedal     
4 Great to Pedal     
8 Swell to Pedal     
4 Swell to Pedal     
8 Choir to Pedal     
4 Choir to Pedal     
        

16 Swell to Great     
8 Swell to Great     
4 Swell to Great     
16 Choir to Great     
8 Choir to Great     
4 Choir to Great     
        

16 Swell to Choir     
8 Swell to Choir     
4 Swell to Choir     
        
        
   

EXPRESSION 
    

  CHOIR   Expression Shoe (CH) 
  SWELL   Expression  Shoe (SW) 
  CRESCENDO   Expression Shoe 
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APPENDIX  F – ORGAN SPECIFICATIONS _Möller/Walker_2011 

Pitch Stop Name Source Notes 
        
        
  PEDAL   Unexpressed 

32 Contre Bourdon Digital Reversible Toe Piston 
16 Principal Digital   
16 Subbass Pipe Exposed 
16 Violone  (GT) Digital   
16 Gedecktbass  (CH) Pipe   
8 Principal Pipe Exposed 
8 Holzgedeckt 8  (CH) Pipe   
8 Gemshorn  (CH) Digital   
4 Choral Bass Pipe Exposed 
4 Rohrflute Digital   
16 Holz Posaune Digital   
8 Basson Digital   
8 Trumpet Digital   
4 Clarinet  (CH) Digital   
8 Trompette En Chamade Digital ANT -  Non Coupling 
  MIDI  A   Keycheek Piston 
  MIDI  B   Keycheek Piston 
        
  Antiphonal PEDAL   Expressed (CH) 

16 Bourdon Digital   
8 Offenbass Digital   
16 Fagott Digital   
8 Basson Digital   
        
        
  SWELL Manual 

Ill 
Expressed (SW) 

8 Geigen Diapason Digital   
8 Viole de Gambe Pipe   
8 Viole Celeste Pipe   
8 Rohrflute Pipe   
4 Principal Digital   
4 Flachflute Pipe   

2 2/3 Nazard Pipe   
2 Blockflute Pipe   

1 3/5 Tierce Digital   
2 Plein Jeu Ill Digital   
16 Basson Digital   
8 Trumpet Pipe   
8 Oboe Digital   
8 Trompette En Chamade Digital ANT - Non Coupling 
16 Swell to Swell     
8 Swell Unison Off     
4 Swell to Swell     
  MIDI A   Keycheek Piston 
  MIDI B   Keycheek Piston 
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Pitch Stop Name Source Notes 
        

      
  GREAT Manual II Exposed 

16 Violone Digital   
8 Principal Pipe   
8 Violone Digital   
8 Bourdon Pipe   
4 Octave Pipe   
4 Koppelflute Digital   
2 Super Octav Pipe   
  Mixture III-IV Pipe   
8 Trumpet Digital   
8 Trompette En Chamade Digital ANT- Non Coupling 
4 Great to Great     
  MIDI  A   Keycheek Piston 
  MIDI  B   Keycheek Piston 
        
  CHOIR Manual I Expressed (CH) 
  Gemshorn Digital   
  Gemshorn Celeste Digital   
8 Holzgedeckt Pipe   
  Flute Celeste II Digital   
4 Principal Pipe   
4 Spitzflute Pipe   
2 Principal Pipe   

1 1/3 Larigot Digital   
1 Sifflote Digital   
8 Krummhorn Pipe   
8 Clarinet Digital   
8 Trompette En Chamade Digital ANT -  Non Coupling 
  Tremulant     

16 Choir to Choir     
8 Choir Unison Off     
4 Choir to Choir     
  MIDI  A   Keycheek Piston 
  MIDI  B   Keycheek Piston 
        
        
  Zimbelstern Mechanical Choir-Expressed.  Reversible Toe Piston 
  

 
MIDI VOICES 

MX-200 Rodgers 
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Pitch Stop Name Source Notes 
        
        
  ANTIPHONAL   Expresssed (CH) 
8 Principal Digital   
8 Dulciana Digital   
8 Dulciana Celeste Digital   
8 Spitz Flute Digital   
4 Octave                                 

-   Digital 
    

4 Nachthorn Digital   
2 Blockflute Digital   
2 Mixture Ill Digital   
8 Cornopean Digital   
  Chimes Digital   
  ANT Gallery On     
  ANT Chancel OFF     
        
   

 
 

COUPLERS 

    

8 Great to Pedal   Reversible Toe Piston 
4 Great to Pedal     
8 Swell to Pedal   Reversible Toe Piston 
4 Swell to Pedal     
8 Choir to Pedal   Reversible Toe Piston 
4 Choir to Pedal     
8 Antiphonal to Pedal     
4 Antiphonal to Pedal     
        

16 Swell to Great     
8 Swell to Great     
4 Swell to Great     
16 Choir to Great     
8 Choir to Great     
4 Choir to Great     
        

16 Swell to Choir     
8 Swell to Choir     
4 Swell to Choir     
        
8 Antiphonal to Swell     
8 Antiphonal to Great     
8 Antiphonal to Choir     
        
  Great/Choir Exchange     
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  EXPRESSION     
  CHOIR   Expression Shoe (CH) 
  SWELL   Expression  Shoe (SW) 
  CRESCENDO   Expression Shoe 

    

        
  CAPTURE     
  Generals 1- 10   Manual & Toe Pistons 
  Great Division 1-5   Great Manual Pistons 
  Swell Division 1-5   Swell Manual Pistons 
  Choir Division 1-5   Choir Manual Pistons 
  Pedal Division 1-5   Pedal Toe Pistons 
  Tutti   Reversible Manual & Toe Piston 
  Crescendo II   User Settable by Memory Level 
  SET   Press to Capture/Walker Paradox 
  Gen Cancel   Choir Manual Piston 
        
  Bank Up (1 - 16)   16 Total Banks (1 - 16) 
  Bank Down     
  Level Up  (A-N)   14 Total Levels  (A-N) 
  Level Down     
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Great Division & Choir Chamber 

Pedal Division & Swell Chamber 

Great Division & Pedal Choralbass 
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The Choir Division Chamber 
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The Swell Division Chamber 
Basses 

The Swell Division Chamber 
Trebles 
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Carillonic Tower Bells were installed in the steeple of the ‘Rock Church’ in 1946.  This unique bell system 
was electronic, in contrast to the traditional cast bell.  These new bell systems produced sound by 
striking a tuned metal rod.   Twenty five of these rods formed the Tone Generation System.  The 
vibrating rod for each note played was then tube amplified through speakers installed in the tower.  The 
system was designed and manufactured by Schulmerich Electronics of Sellersville, Pennsylvania, 
purchased at a cost $3,775.00.   

At the entrance of the Parish Building of the ‘Rock Church’ was a beautiful oak case about six feet tall 
that housed the unit along with a record player turntable.  Bell melodies could be played from a 
separate keyboard by the musician through an internal speaker in the sanctuary, and when switched on, 
could be heard outdoors through two horns mounted in the steeple.  The record player allowed bell 
music (or any 78 rpm record) to be played outdoors.  While this unit at SSLC could have been played by a 
roll mechanism similar to that on a player piano, it was not automated and had to be played manually. 

During construction of the 1957 sanctuary, the entire system was updated, moved and installed in the 
sacristy with 4 new speakers in the vertical openings of the new spire.  The tone generators were wall 
mounted in a large metal case.  Connections to the PELS organ were made to allow the organist to 
control and play the bells directly from the organ keyboard.  Because this instrument was electronic, the 
amplification of speech through microphones provided the first sound system for St. Stephen’s new 
sanctuary.  If you notice the two small arched areas over the hymn boards at the entrance to the 
chancel, the brown grille cloth covers speakers that were located there for the original sound system.  
Monitor speakers were also installed in other locations of the church buildings.  The renovation and 
moving costs to the new sanctuary was $745.00. 

The Narthex 
Dedication 
Plaque 



 

 

Carillonic 
without a
weight.  T
successfu
church or
chimes m
organ cha
to the new

After 55 y
again cho
system pr
fully auto
sounds yo
all stored 
propriety 

 

 

Bells (Symph
ll the cost ass
These English 
lly with the o
gans because
anufactured 
amber and ma
w M.P. Mölle

years, the orig
sen to build t
rovides a mul
mated system
ou hear are ge
on flash mem
keyboard co

honic Bells) ar
sociated with
bells were no

organ.  A set o
e they were’ i
by Mass Row
ade playable 
r organ in 19

ginal Schulme
the new Camp

titude of bell
m strikes the 
enerated by d
mory.  The sys
nnected via f

re designed to
h casting bells
ot tuned like 
of solenoid‐st
n tune’ and c

we of Californi
from the org
78 in the balc

erich Carilloni
panile Gen 4 

s and control
hour, plays b
digital compu
stem is not co
iber optics al

o reproduce s
s and building
pianos and o
ruck brass tu
could be playe
ia, was purch
an console.  T
cony. 

ic Tower Bells
Carillon instr
ls.  New spea
ell peals for w
uters with a co
onnected to t
lowing bell m

sound like a c
g a massive su
rgans, theref
bular chimes
ed with the o
hased in 1970
These chimes

s needed to b
rument in Nov
kers were ins
weddings and
omplete libra
the organ, bu
melodies to be

cast bell – the
upporting stru
fore, could no
s became a po
organ.  A 25 n
0 for $1,970.0
s were moved

be replaced.  
vember of 20
stalled in the 
d tolls for fun
ary of hymns 
ut has an inde
e played by a 

Sch

Campa
Carillon

Inst
In th

21 | P

e real thing 
ucture for ton
ot be played 
opular additio
ote set of tub
0, installed in
d and connec

Schulmerich 
001.  This $17
spire and the
erals.  All the
and special m
ependent 
musician. 

hulmerich 

anile Gen
n Instrum

 
talled 2001 
he Balcony 

a g e  

ns of 

on to 
bular 
n the 
ted 

was 
7,000 
e now 
e 
music 

n 4 
ent 









Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text





Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text
Return to Link

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text

























Jim
Typewritten Text
Return to Link

Jim
Typewritten Text

Jim
Typewritten Text













Jim
Typewritten Text
Return to Link

Jim
Typewritten Text


	TOC: 


